IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAWRENCE SINGLETON,

Appellant, :

vs. : Case No. 93,035

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee.

____:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

PAUL C. HELM Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0229687

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Hillsborough County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, Lawrence Singleton, on March 5, 1997, for the first-degree, premeditated murder of Roxanne Hayes on February 19, 1997. [I R 39-40]¹

Singleton's first trial for the murder of Roxanne Hayes began on December 3, 1997. [IX T 1] That trial ended on December 10, 1997, before the completion of jury selection, when the court granted defense counsel's motion for mistrial. [XVIII T 1383, 1428-33, 1441-42, 1450-54]

Singleton was tried by jury before Judge Bob Anderson Mitchum on February 9-20, 1999. [XIX T 1474; XXXVIII, T 3999] The jury found Singleton guilty of first-degree murder as charged. [VIII R 1170; XXXVII T 4155]

The court conducted the penalty phase trial before the jury on February 23-25, 1998. [XXXVIII T 4190; XLII T 4757] The jury recommended death by a vote of ten to two. [XLII T 4824] Both parties filed sentencing memoranda. [VIII R 1236-76] Defense counsel's sentencing memorandum urged the court to find three statutory and thirty-three nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Page references to the record on appeal are designated by a Roman numeral for the volume number, R for the record proper, and T for the transcript.

[VIII R 1255, 1259-66] The court conducted a <u>Spencer</u> hearing on March 30, 1998. [XLII T 4837, 4852-67]

On April 14, 1998, the court sentenced Singleton to death, finding two aggravating circumstances: (1) prior violent felony convictions for rape, kidnapping, mayhem, sodomy, and attempted murder, and (2) heinous, atrocious, or cruel. [VIII R 1287-1289, 1293; XLII T 4872-76, 4882; A 1-3, 7] The court found three statutory mitigating circumstances: (1) extreme mental or emotional disturbance, (2) substantial impairment of the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law, and (3) Singleton's age of 69. [VIII 1289-92; XLII T 4876-80; A 3-6] The court found nine nonstatutory mitigating circumstances: (1) the prior violent felonies were committed in 1978 when Singleton was 51 years old, (2) the intent to kill was formed during an argument or disagreement between Singleton and Hayes, (3) since his release on parole in 1987, Singleton had never been accused of or arrested for any offense except petit theft, (4) at the time of the offense Singleton was under the influence of alcohol and other possible medication, (5) Singleton suffered from alcoholism, (6) Singleton suffered from mild dementia, (7) Singleton previously attempted suicide, (8) Singleton served honorably in the armed forces of the United States, and (9) Singleton was a model prisoner while incarcerated in a California prison from 1979 to 1987. The court

did not address the other nonstatutory mitigating circumstances identified by defense counsel. [VIII R 1292-93; XLII T 4880-81; A 6-7]

The court's sentencing order also contained further findings:

The court further finds that this was an unprovoked, senseless killing of a human being, the mother of two lovely children, without cause, provocation or justification. The fact that the victim was a prostitute in no way diminished her right to life and the pursuit of happiness, or justifies the taking of her life. This killing further exemplifies that we are living in times worse than "Sodom and Gomorrah".

[VIII R 1293; XLII T 4882; A 7]

Defense counsel filed a motion to correct sentencing error, arguing that the court erred by finding facts not in evidence, by considering only nine of thirty-one nonstatutory mitigating circumstances proposed by the defense, by failing to detail the weighing process, and by finding nonstatutory aggravating circumstances. [VIII R 1297-1301] The court heard and denied this motion on April 30, 1998. [XLII T 4885-88]

Defense counsel filed a notice of appeal on May 13, 1998. [VIII R 1302]

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Jury Selection

The court ruled that it would excuse prospective jurors if they had knowledge of Singleton's background and conviction in California. [XIX T 1481-82] During individual voir dire on pretrial publicity, the court granted 75 defense cause challenges to prospective jurors who had knowledge of Singleton's prior crime in California. [XX T 1658-63, 1708-17, 1740-56; XXI T 1798-1801, 1822-48, 1866-74; XXII T 1919-28, 1924-28, 1945-62, 1969-86; XXIII T 2008-17, 1030-32, 2064-73, 2099-2123; XXIV T 2131-70, 2182-2212; XXV T 2262-72, 2284-2343, 2352-55, 2374-78; XXVI T 2409-16, 2414-16, 2425-28, 2437-40, 2447-70, 2482-98, 2511-16, 2552-59; XXVII T 2603-05]

The court denied defense counsel's cause challenges to prospective jurors Crumpton, who read a newspaper article about a month before and formed the impression that Singleton killed somebody and chopped off her arms in another case, but said he could put that information aside and render a fair and impartial verdict, [XX T 1729-40; XXVIII T 2904-05] Crawford, who saw a news broadcast that Singleton had a crime in his past, but could not remember whether he was convicted, where it occurred, nor the nature of the crime, and said he could base his decision on the evidence and the law given by the court, [XXV T 2246-61; XXVIII T 2905] and Meyer, who remembered news reports about cutting off the

arms of a girl under 18 but not whether it occurred in this case or a prior case, and said he would base his verdict solely on the evidence he heard in the courtroom. [XXV T 2378-95, 2398-99; XXVIII T 2905-06]

Defense counsel asked the prospective jurors whether they could consider the consumption of alcohol, intoxication effecting a person's mental state at the time of the offense. [XXVIII T 2767-73] Belcher responded, "I don't feel that alcohol is an excuse in any kind of crime no matter what it is." [XXVIII T 2773] After Dosal said he could not consider whether a person who killed someone was drunk, [XXVIII T 2773] the prosecutor objected that the court should tell the prospective jurors what voluntary intoxication is and ask if they can follow the instruction. The court responded that it would only ask if they can follow the law. [XXVIII T 2774-75] The court asked the prospective jurors to raise their hands if they could not follow the law and the instructions given by the court. None of them raised their hands. [XXVIII T 2812] Belcher told defense counsel that he would be able to take the defendant's mental state into consideration in deciding what punishment to recommend. [XXVIII T 28551

Defense counsel challenged Belcher for cause because he could not consider intoxication as a defense. [XXVIII T 2903] The prosecutor argued that Belcher was not asked if he was instructed

to consider voluntary intoxication could he consider that and that Belcher unequivocally said he could follow the law. [XXVIII T 2903-04] The court denied the cause challenge. [XXVIII T 2904]

Defense counsel used peremptory challenges to excuse Crumpton, Belcher, Meyer, and Crawford. [XXVIII T 2909-11, 2915-16] Defense counsel exhausted his peremptory challenges. [XXVIII T 2909-16] The court granted both parties an additional strike, and defense counsel used his. [XXVIII, T 2917-18] Defense counsel requested another peremptory to strike juror Noriega, but the court denied the request. [XXVIII T 2921-23] Defense counsel accepted the jury subject to his prior objections. [XXVIII T 2926]

The State's Case

William Baker lived in the same neighborhood as Danny Sales and Lawrence Singleton. Baker went to Sales' house around 3:30 p.m. on February 19, 1997. [XXXIII T 3514-19, 3527] Baker saw Singleton drive up and park his white Dodge van in his driveway. [XXXIII T 3520-21, 3529] Baker did not notice any irregular driving or trouble in parking the van. [XXXIII T 3523] Singleton and a woman exited the van and went into Singleton's house. [XXXIII T 3522-24, 3529] They were not talking or arguing. [XXXIII T 3525, 3529] Baker did not notice anything unusual about Singleton's walking. [XXXIII T 3524]

Paul Hitson and his uncle, Robert Music, had been hired to paint the interior of Singleton's house at 7704 23rd Avenue East in Hillsborough County. Singleton used the nickname Bill. [XXIX T 3075-80] On the afternoon of February 19, 1997, near dusk, Hitson and his uncle went to Singleton's house to do some touch-up work. [XXIX T 3083-84, 3087] Singleton's white Dodge van was parked in the driveway with the back door open. [XXIX, T 3084-86] Hitson heard moaning and thought Singleton was having sex. [XXX T 3151] Hitson knocked on the carport door, said, "hey, Bill," and went inside. He heard two muffled calls for help. [XXIX T 3087-89; XXX T 3176] He went through the foyer and the interior door to the dining room. [XXIX T 3089; XXX T 3173-74]

Hitson saw at least five prescription medicine pill bottles spilled about the kitchen counter. [XXX T 3158, 3177] There was a strong odor of alcohol in the house. [XXX T 3158-59, 3161-62, 3177] Singleton had been drunk every time Hitson went to his house. Singleton drank two gallons of vodka a day. Hitson had found bottles of vodka hidden in Singleton's boots. [XXX T 3159-61]

Hitson went to the doorway to the living room.² [XXIX T 3090; XXX T 3173-74] Hitson saw Singleton, naked, bent over between the legs of a woman on the couch. He could see the woman's knee and

 $^{^{2}\,}$ The prosecutor referred to this room as both the "living room" and the "family room." [XXIX T 3090-93]

part of her thigh. There was a blotch of blood on her thigh. [XXIX T 3093-95; XXX T 3177] Singleton stood up and looked passed Hitson. [XXIX T 3096; XXX T 3171-72, 3175, 3177] Hitson did not see anything in Singleton's hands. [XXIX T 3096-97] Singleton knelt back down to what he was doing. Hitson ran outside. [XXIX T 3097; XXX T 3177] Hitson estimated that he stood in the doorway less than a minute, but that he was inside the house four to six minutes. [XXIX T 3096; XXX T 3172-78]

Hitson told his uncle what he had seen, grabbed a shovel or a broom, and started to go back inside. His uncle prevented him. They ran to the front of the house. [XXIX T 3099; XXX T 3179] Through the window in the front door, Hitson saw the woman sitting on the right side of the couch. Singleton was standing, leaning towards her with his hand around her neck. [XXIX T 3106-08] Hitson kicked the front door. [XXIX T 3100-02; XXX T 3181] The woman said, "Help," in a muffled voice. [XXIX, T 3108; XXX T 3181] Singleton looked over his shoulder at Hitson and said, "shut up, bitch." [XXIX T 3106, 3109; XXX T 3181-82, 3197] Singleton made three "pounding" motions with his right fist, hitting the woman's head, chest and neck. Hitson heard "bone crushing" sounds each time. He did not see a weapon in Singleton's hand. [XXIX T 3110-12; XXX T 3181-82, 3194-97] Hitson estimated that he stood at the

 $^{^3}$ In a deposition and before the grand jury, Hitson testified that Singleton said only, "shut up." [XXX T 3182-83, 3194; XXXIV 3695-98]

front door for about four to six minutes. [XXIX T 3113; XXX T 3179]

Hitson and his uncle drove to a gas station. His uncle called 911. [XXIX T 3114-15] They drove by Singleton's house twice, but the police had not arrived. They went to Hitson's house. [XIX T 3115-17] His uncle called Diane Singleton and told her what happened. [XXIX T 3117-19] Hitson returned to Singleton's house and found that the police had arrived. [XXIX T 3119] The back doors to Singleton's van were closed, the side doors were open, and the van was farther back from the carport, closer to the door. [XXIX T 3120-21]

On the afternoon of February 19, 1997, Deputy Morffi was handling a call when he heard the dispatcher request available units to respond to a domestic trouble call at 7704 23rd Avenue East. It took him five to eight minutes to finish the call he was on, then another twenty minutes to get to Singleton's house. [XXIX T 3034-36, 3069-70] The initial dispatch call was made at 5:51 p.m. [XXIX T 3058] Morffi arrived at 6:23 p.m. [XXIX T 3039, 3058] He saw that the front door and gate were closed. There was no activity. At the side of the house, which was on a corner lot, the gates were open and there was a van in the driveway with the side doors open. He parked behind the van. [XXIX T 3036, 3039-41] There was a dog in the yard. A neighbor, Sales, secured the dog. [XXIX T 3041-42]

Deputy Morffi knocked on the carport door. [XXIX T 3042] Singleton opened the door and stepped outside. [XXIX T 3043] Singleton was wearing an unbuttoned shirt and a pair of shorts with the fly open. There was a blood stain and cut on his chest. [XXIX T 3044, 3059-62] Morffi smelled alcohol on Singleton's breath. [XXIX T 3062] Morffi explained that he was dispatched because of domestic trouble between a man and a woman and asked what happened. Singleton said he had a spat with his girlfriend, she was inside, everything was okay, and Morffi could leave. Singleton appeared to be nervous. He was jittery, bouncing around, moving from side to side, and jabbering. [XXIX T 3045-46, 3063] Morffi asked how he got cut. Singleton said he cut his chest while he was chopping turnips -- some turnips got on his chest, and he scraped them off with the knife. [XXIX T 3047, 3063]

The telephone rang. Singleton went inside the house and Morffi followed. [XXIX T 3047] Morffi went through the foyer to an interior door. [XXIX T 3048-50] Singleton tried to close the interior door behind him, but it remained open about five to eight inches. Morffi looked through the opening and saw a woman's foot on the floor. Morffi opened the door wider and saw a naked woman lying face down on the floor. There were cuts on her side. [XXIX T 3050-51, 3064-66] There was a blood clot in her nose. Her eyes were closed. She was not breathing or moving. Morffi thought she was dead or dying. [XXIX T 3052, 3066]

Morffi went to his patrol car and called for help and EMS. Singleton came out of the house and walked towards the patrol car. Morffi told Singleton he had seen the woman. He handcuffed Singleton and frisked him. Morffi removed Singleton's wallet from his pocket and put it on the ground. He put Singleton in the back of the patrol car. [XXIX T 3052-53, 3066-67, 3071-72]

Morffi returned to the woman and shook her to see if she would respond. She appeared to be dead. [XXIX T 3055-56] When Deputy Brown and EMS arrived, they entered the house. Morffi and Brown determined that the woman had no pulse. They searched for any other suspects or victims. [XXIX T 3054-55; XXXI T 3244-47] It appeared that there had been a struggle in the living room. [XXIX T 3063; XXXI T 3251] A lamp and dishes were knocked over. Brown saw alcohol containers. [XXXI T 3252] There were blood stains on the floor. [XXXI T 3255] Morffi and Brown went outside. Additional police units arrived. EMS declared the woman dead and left the scene. A deputy was posted at the door to secure the scene. [XXIX T 3056-57; XXXI T 3248]

The parties stipulated that Roxanne Hayes died on February 19, 1997, at 7704 23rd Avenue East in Tampa, Florida. [XXIX T 3074]

Detective Young arrived at Singleton's house at 7:08 p.m. on February 19, 1997. [XXXII T 3391, 3399, 3424] Singleton was sitting in a patrol car looking disheveled. When he was moved to another patrol car, he had trouble getting in and out of the cars.

He stumbled once. His speech was slurred. He appeared to be intoxicated. [XXXII T 3424]

Paramedic Christine Wiley arrived at Singleton's house around 8:00 p.m. Singleton was handcuffed in the back seat of a patrol car. [XXXI T 3232-334] He had a red abrasion on his left upper chest. [XXXI T 3235-37] Singleton told her he was assaulted with a knife. [XXXI T 3241] He said he was taking Paxil, Demerol, and Vistaril. [XXXI T 3242] The abrasion was not bleeding, and Wiley did not treat it. There were no other open cuts or wounds. [XXXI T 3237-38] Singleton complained of chest pain, but his vital signs were normal and his lungs were clear. [XXXI T 3238] She offered to take Singleton to the hospital, but he declined. [XXXI T 3239] She did not notice any sign of intoxication or impairment due to drugs or alcohol. Singleton appeared to be lucid and coherent. [XXXI T 3240]

Deputy Brown was present while Singleton was being checked by EMS. [XXXI T 3248-49] Singleton said, "We had an argument and she threw something at me so I killed her. And I guess that makes me a murderer so you've got me now." [XXXI T 3250] There was an odor of alcohol on Singleton's breath. His cheeks were flushed and red. [XXXI T 3251]

Detectives Lingo and Young saw Singleton at the homicide office between 8:30 and 9:00 p.m. [XXXIII, T 3479-80] He was a bit more sober then. Young asked him to remove his clothing -- a

shirt, shorts, socks, and shoes, but no underwear. Singleton was cooperative. [XXXII T 3393-96, 3425] Singleton was wearing a condom which appeared to be wet. Young asked him to remove it, and Singleton seemed surprised that he had it on. [XXXII T 3426; XXXIII T 3507-08]

Detective Lingo testified that State Attorney Harry Coe walked by while they were at the homicide office. [XXXIII T 3479-80] Singleton said, "Judge Coe, you know, what the hell are you doing here. I didn't vote for you. I voted for Bill James." Singleton was laughing. [XXXIII T 3480] Lingo noticed an odor of alcohol on Singleton's breath, his speech was muffled (which Lingo attributed to Singleton not having his teeth in), and his eyes were bloodshot. It appeared that he had been consuming alcohol, but he did not appear to be intoxicated. [XXXIII T 3482-84, 3506-07]

The state proffered a video, state exhibit 41, which showed Singleton answering reporters' questions as Deputy Morffi escorted him from the homicide office to a patrol car. The video had been edited to delete one of Singleton's remarks, "I was framed before," from the audio track of the tape. It included his admission, "This time I did it." [XXXIV T 3623-30; LIII R 1050-51] Defense counsel argued that the video should not be admitted because it violated Singleton's previously invoked right to remain silent when he replied "no comment" to the reporters' initial questions, it showed Singleton dressed in a blue jail uniform and handcuffs in the

custody of the police, the editing excluded only the audio and not the video of Singleton saying he was framed before, and the prejudicial effects of the video outweighed its probative value. [XXIV T 3626-27, 3630-36, 3641, 3643] The court overruled the defense objections, finding,

But I do feel that to deny the state the right to present something which would show this defendant in the light in which he was seen that night would be prejudicial to them. And I think the prejudice to the state is far outweighed by the prejudice to the defendant. So I will allow you to admit it.

[XXXIV T 3644-45]

Deputy Morffi testified that around 9:30 p.m. on February 19 he escorted Singleton out of the homicide office and placed him in a patrol car. [XXXIV T 3651] Morffi was holding him by his right arm. [XXXIV T 3652] The court overruled defense counsel's renewed motions and objections and admitted the video, state exhibit 41, which was played for the jury. [XXXIV T 3652-54; LIII R 1050-51] The video contained the following dialogue:

REPORTER: Who is she? Why did you kill her?

THE DEFENDANT: I have no comment.
REPORTER: How did you kill her?
THE DEFENDANT: I have no comment.
REPORTER: How did all this start?
THE DEFENDANT: I have no comment.

(Pause)

THE DEFENDANT: This time I did it. REPORTER: You say you did do it, sir?

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, I done it.

(Pause)

REPORTER: Who is she?

THE DEFENDANT: What? Never mind. REPORTER: Is she your girlfriend or --

THE DEFENDANT: Yeah, a girlfriend.

REPORTER: Why did you do it, sir? Did she

upset you?

THE DEFENDANT: (Unintelligible) You got that

much.

[XXXIV T 3653-54]

Detective Lingo obtained a search warrant for Singleton's house which was executed around 11:30 p.m. [XXXIII T 3477-78] A video recording of the scene showed the reading of the warrant, the open side doors on the van, Singleton's wallet, \$27 removed from the wallet, entry through the carport door, the foyer, the dining room, a blanket or sheet over the body, the living room, the kitchen, a couch, the front door, another couch with a blood stain, a fake fingernail on the couch, a butcher knife in front of the couch, a rope, a coffee table with items which appeared to be from a woman's purse, a dish with beans and rice, a \$20 bill, beads, a small tree branch, the bedroom, the bathroom, another bedroom, the uncovered body, and a close-up of the right hand with fake fingernails. [XXXIII T 3490-99]

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