IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LAWRENCE SINGLETON,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 93,035

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA

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

In effect, appellant wanted the trial court to treat Ms. Vincent different from any other witness in this case because of

her physical handicap.²⁶ The law does not require such an accommodation for the appellant simply because such a display might remind the jury of the violence he committed against Ms. Vincent. It is important to note the State did not attempt to introduce bloody photographs reflecting the fifteen-year-old Ms. Vincent immediately after the appellant's brutal attack. Instead, the jury briefly heard from a thirty four year-old Ms. Vincent testifying only very generally about the attack she suffered years earlier at the hands of the appellant. (V. XXXIX at 4326-28). Her entire direct testimony comprises merely three pages of transcript. And, the State notes that Ms. Vincent provided few details of the sexual degradation she suffered at the hands of the appellant.

Any argument that the trial court abandoned its impartial role in asking Ms. Vincent to identify the person who committed the criminal acts against her is devoid of any merit. First, appellant failed to make this argument below and therefore it has been waived on appeal. Although appellant did make a motion for mistrial after Ms. Vincent identified appellant in court, he did not claim that the trial court abandoned its neutral and impartial role in asking her to do so. Appellant's objection below was as follows: "Your,

²⁶Defense counsel below routinely asked defense witnesses to point to the appellant and identify him in court. <u>See e.q.</u> V. XL at 4473 ("Would you point to him and describe what he's wearing, please.").

Honor, I believe she has [already identified appellant] and I object." (V. XXXIX at 4332). Since the specific argument made on appeal was not presented to the trial court below, appellant may not succeed on appeal unless he has demonstrated fundamental error. Section 924.051 (1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1996); <u>Steinhorst</u>, 412 So.2d at 338.

Appellant has not demonstrated error, let alone fundamental error based upon this record. A trial judge does not abandon his or her neutral and impartial role simply by asking questions of a witness. <u>See e.g.</u> <u>Sims v. State</u>, 184 So.2d 217, 221 (Fla. 1966)("The trial judge may have asked the witness as many questions as either of the attorneys, but this numerical equality standing alone does not demonstrate error.") Here, the trial court only asked one question of the prosecution witness and did not thereby unduly interject itself into the trial. The question did not introduce new or additional issues or evidence into the trial. The trial court's question merely amplified one asked earlier by the prosecutor on direct examination--i.e, the identity of the perpetrator. See Watson v. State, 190 So.2d 161 (Fla. 1966)("...it is our understanding a trial judge, in order to ascertain the truth, may, if he deems it necessary, ask questions of witnesses and clear up uncertainties as to issues in cases that appear to

require it.").²⁷ See also United States v. Hilliard, 752 F.2d 578, 582 (11th Cir. 1985)(In denying a claim that the defendant was denied a fair trial where, among other things, the trial judge asked four foundational questions for the admission of a business record by the government, the Eleventh Circuit observed: "It is well settled that the trial judge has broad discretion in the management of the trial and that a reviewing court should not interfere absent a clear showing of abuse.").

The instant case is clearly distinguishable from those cases cited in appellant's brief. Each case involved much more intrusive and partisan conduct by the trial judge. For example, in <u>J.F. v.</u> <u>State</u>, 718 So.2d 251, 252 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), not only did the trial court ask questions of a witness, but he directed a law enforcement officer to conduct fingerprint testing of an automobile that was allegedly stolen by the appellant. The State had not planed to introduce such evidence and the trial court delayed the trial and allowed the State to reopen its case to introduce this

²⁷This Court in <u>Watson</u> also stated:

^{...}Error is committed only when it appears that the judge departs from neutrality or expresses bias or prejudice in his comments in the presence of the jury. None of the comments made by the judge in the form of questions or in his rulings or in his statements at the trial clearly reflect partiality or bias. 190 So.2d at 164-165.

additional evidence of guilt.

Similarly, <u>Abrams v. State</u>, 326 So.2d 211 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), cited in appellant's brief, provides no support for his position on appeal. In <u>Abrams</u> the trial court shook hands with the chief complaining witness, visited with her after she finished testifying in the presence of the jury, and later told the jury that "he and his family had known the witness for years." 326 So.2d at 212.

In this case, appellant can point to no other allegedly partisan conduct of the trial court other than asking one question of a state witness and allowing her to be sworn in front of the jury. While the answer to the trial court's single question may indeed have inured to the benefit of the State, the question itself indicates no bias by the trial court in favor of the prosecution. Appellant has not demonstrated error from the fact the trial court posed a question to Ms. Vincent, much less fundamental error requiring reversal of appellant's sentence.

<u>ISSUE V</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO ACCEPT PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CRIMINAL ACTS HE COMMITTED AGAINST MS. VINCENT? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant next complains that the trial court erred in allowing the State to introduce testimony that showed his lack of remorse for having raped and mutilated Ms. Vincent. However, there was no direct evidence presented by the State to show appellant's lack of remorse for his prior violent felony convictions. Instead, on cross-examination of appellant's parole officer, Douglas Filangeri, the State was allowed to introduce testimony that appellant denied he committed the offenses against Ms. Vincent. Thus, at most, this was an indirect expression of appellant's lack of remorse for the **prior violent felony offenses**. The complained of testimony was properly admitted as it was well within the proper scope of cross-examination.

"A 'trial judge has wide discretion to determine the permissible scope of cross-examination.'" <u>Monlyn v. State</u>, 705 So.2d 1, 4 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 524 U.S. 957 (1998)(quoting <u>Bryan v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 744, 750 (Fla. 1988)). In <u>Chandler v.</u> <u>State</u>, 702 So.2d 186, 196 (Fla. 1997), <u>cert. denied</u>, 523 U.S. 1083 (1998), this Court stated, "we have long held that 'cross

examination is not confined to the identical details testified to in chief, but extends to its entire subject matter, and to all matters that may modify, supplement, contradict, rebut, or make clearer the facts testified to in chief.'" (quoting <u>Geralds v.</u> <u>State</u>, 674 So.2d 96, 99 (Fla. 1996)). The prosecutor's crossexamination directly addressed matters revealed on direct examination and was admissible to rebut the model parolee image appellant was attempting to establish through Filangeri's testimony.

On direct examination, Filangeri stated that while he did not consider appellant a disciplinary problem, he did have areas of concern. Mr. Filangeri testified: "There was some areas where I would have to ask him to -- to refrain from certain areas of conversation or something where I just was uncomfortable." (V. XXXIX at 4374). On cross-examination, the prosecutor asked Filangeri about the "areas of conversation" with appellant that he felt "uncomfortable" with. (V. XXXIX at 4385). A question regarding appellant's insistence that Ms. Vincent offered him sex for money brought an objection from the defense counsel. Defense counsel claimed that the question exceeded the scope of crossexamination, that its only relevance "would be to impugn or impinge" upon appellant's character, and that it constituted a non-

statutory aggravating circumstance. (V. XXXIX at 4385-4386). However, defense counsel did not identify that non-statutory aggravating circumstance as lack of remorse.²⁸ The trial court overruled the defense counsel's objection, stating:

Well, I think he was asked on direct examination a question and he himself said and made the statement that he was uncomfortable as a result of conversations that he had with Mr. Singleton. And now to deny the state the right to discuss those, I might -- I think would be improper. So I will overrule your objection.

(V. XXXIX at 4386).

Clearly, the prosecutor's questions on cross-examination served to explain and amplify Filangeri's testimony on direct examination. Moreover, such testimony was relevant in that it tended to address the picture appellant attempted to paint of himself as a "model" parolee. In Johnson v. State, 660 So.2d 637, 646 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert. denied</u>, 134 L.Ed.2d 653 (1996), this Court rejected a similar claim of error where the State elicited on cross-examination of a defense witness that appellant had a sometimes violent relationship with his long term companion. In finding such cross-examination relevant and admissible, this Court

²⁸Of course, the entire thrust of appellant's argument on appeal is that this constituted an impermissible comment on his lack of remorse. Since appellant failed to identify lack of remorse below as the foundation for his objection, it can be argued that this argument has been waived on appeal. <u>Archer v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993)

stated:

The State then elicited testimony that the two sometimes had violent arguments. Johnson now argues that the latter testimony was beyond the scope of direct examination and, in any event, constituted an illegal non-statutory aggravating factor. We disagree. When the defense puts the defendant's character in issue in the penalty phase, the State is entitled to rebut with other character evidence, including collateral crimes tending to undermine the defense's theory. Wournos v. State, 644 So.2d 1000, 1009 n. 5 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, U.S. ____, 115 S.Ct. 1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (1995). Such evidence in this context does not constitute an illegal nonstatutory aggravating factor provided the State uses it strictly for rebuttal purposes. Violent conduct in a relationship tends to rebut testimony that the relationship was loving and that a defendant was a good father figure. Accordingly, the trial court did not err on this point.

Johnson, 660 So.2d at 646.

Sub judice, the questions of Mr. Filangeri were well within the proper scope of cross-examination. Further, as in Johnson the State was entitled to rebut the testimony appellant was using in mitigation by eliciting facts tending to show that appellant was not a model parolee. <u>Cf. Kormandy v. State</u>, 703 So.2d 454, 462 (Fla. 1997)("While the statement would be admissible to rebut evidence of remorse or rehabilitation, it was introduced before the defense presented any evidence."). The jury was entitled to learn that appellant never accepted responsibility for the attack upon Ms. Vincent. Finally, appellant's denial of criminal responsibility for committing the prior violent felony offenses was arguably relevant so that the jury could consider and give

appropriate weight to the prior violent felony convictions. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling defense counsel's objection to the cross-examination of Filangeri. <u>See Ho</u> <u>Yin Wong v. State</u>, 359 So.2d 460, 461 (Fla. 3rd DCA), <u>review</u> <u>denied</u>, 364 So.2d 886 (Fla. 1978)("[i]t is well settled that control of the scope of cross-examination lies with the trial judge and is not subject to review except for a clear abuse of discretion.").

Assuming, arguendo, any error in allowing the State's crossexamination of Agent Filangeri or appellant's denial of responsibility for committing offenses against Ms. Vincent, this error does not require reversal of appellant's sentence.

In an attempt to bolster his argument, appellant contends that this allegation of error is of Constitutional magnitude. The State disagrees.

In <u>Wainwright v. Goode</u>, 464 U.S. 78, 78 L.Ed.2d 187, 104 S.Ct. 378 (1983), the Supreme Court recognized that not all sentencing error in a capital case amounts to Constitutional error. The instant allegation of error is nothing more than a claim that the jury and trial court heard irrelevant evidence during the sentencing phase. The admission of testimony on cross-examination regarding appellant's denial of responsibility for committing the

prior violent felonies was a matter of State law. See Pickens v. Lockhart, 4 F.3d 1446, 1454 (8th Cir. 1993), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 1170 (1994) (rejecting claim of constitutional error based upon cross-examination of defense witness in the penalty phase, stating: "The proper scope of cross-examination is a question of state law, and ordinarily wide latitude is allowed on cross-examination with respect to witness credibility and bias."); Milone v. Camp, 22 F.3d 693, 702 (7th Cir. 1994) ("The admissibility of evidence is generally a matter of state law.")(citing United States ex rel. Lee v. Flannagan, 884 F.2d 945, 953 (7th Cir. 1989), cert. denied, 497 U.S. 1027, 110 S.Ct. 3277, 111 L.Ed.2d 786 (1990)). Nonetheless, the State recognizes that this Court's decision in Goodwin makes no distinction between errors of constitutional magnitude and mere allegations of trial error. Although Goodwin was not yet final as of the date of filing this brief, the State maintains that even if the more stringent <u>DiGuilio²⁹</u> standard is applied, the error remains harmless.

This Court has repeatedly found that even direct reference to a defendant's lack of remorse can constitute harmless error. In <u>Shellito v. State</u>, 701 So.2d 837, 842 (Fla. 1997), this Court held: We have clearly stated that lack of remorse is a nonstatutory

²⁹<u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 984 (Fla. 1985)

aggravating circumstance and cannot be considered in capital sentencing. <u>Colina v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 929 (Fla. 1990); <u>Trawick v. State</u>. 473 So.2d 1235, 1240 (Fla. 1985); <u>Pope v.</u> <u>State</u>, 441 So.2d 1073, 1078 (Fla. 1983). However, on this record, we conclude that the brief reference to lack of remorse was of minor consequence and constituted harmless error. <u>See e.q.</u>, <u>Wournos v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 1000, 1010 (Fla. 1994)(brief reference to lack of remorse by prosecutor harmless error), <u>cert. denied</u>, 514 U.S. 1069, 115 S.Ct. 1705, 131 L.Ed.2d 566 (1995); <u>Atwater v. State</u>, 626 So.2d 1325 (Fla. 1993); <u>Sireci v. State</u>, 587 So.2d 450 (Fla. 1991).

Admission of Filangeri's brief testimony was clearly harmless error in this case.

The testimony at issue was not evidence of lack of remorse. It was, in fact, evidence that appellant denied he committed the heinous attack upon Ms. Vincent--i.e., the prior violent felony convictions. Consequently, it was at most, an indirect or strained expression of appellant's lack of remorse. And, any lack of remorse was not directed toward the victim of the instant capital murder, but for the victim of the prior violent felonies introduced by the State as an uncontested aggravator.³⁰

Second, as noted above, this was not a close case. This death sentence is supported by two uncontested and particularly weighty

³⁰This was not a case where lack of remorse was admitted or argued as a nonstatutory aggravator for the current capital murder. The alleged lack of remorse addressed the prior violent felony convictions. Neither was lack of remorse argued by the prosecutor in closing nor the jury instructed on lack of remorse as an aggravating factor.

aggravators, heinous atrocious or cruel, and prior violent felony convictions. The jury vote in favor of the death penalty was ten to two. The complained of testimony was of minor consequence in this case; any error in its admission was clearly harmless.

ISSUE VI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT IMPERMISSIBLY FOUND NON-STATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IN SUPPORT OF THE DEATH SENTENCE? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant complains that the trial court impermissibly found and weighed non-statutory aggravating circumstances. (Appellant's Brief at 75). However, the trial court specifically stated in its sentencing order that it only considered the two statutory aggravating circumstances in determining the appropriate sentence. Immediately after listing the two statutory aggravating factors, the trial court stated: "Nothing except as previously indicated in paragraphs 1 and 2 above was considered in aggravation." (V. VIII at 1289). Thus, appellant's argument is directly contradicted by the plain language of the trial court's sentencing order.

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